Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: December 2, 2021 ACCEPTED: February 7, 2022 PUBLISHED: February 18, 2022

Convexity, large charge and the large-N phase diagram of the φ^4 theory

Rafael Moser,^a Domenico Orlando^{a,b} and Susanne Reffert^a

^bINFN sezione di Torino, via Pietro Giuria 1, 10125 Torino, Italy E-mail: rafamoser@itp.unibe.ch, domenico.orlando@to.infn.it,

Susanne.Reffert@cern.ch

ABSTRACT: In this note we discuss the phase space of the O(2N) vector model in the presence of a quadratic and a quartic interaction by writing the large-N effective potential using large charge methods in dimensions 2 < D < 4 and 4 < D < 6. Based on a simple discussion of the convexity properties of the grand potential, we find very different behavior in the two regimes: while in 2 < D < 4, the theory is well-behaved, the model in 4 < D < 6 leads to a complex CFT in the UV, consistently with earlier results. We also find a new metastable massive phase in the high-energy regime for the theory on the cylinder.

KEYWORDS: Conformal Field Theory, Effective Field Theories, Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Global Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2110.07617

source: https://doi.org/10.48350/167203 | downloaded: 2.8.2022



^a Albert Einstein Center for Fundamental Physics, Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Bern, Sidlerstrasse 5, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Effective actions, Legendre transforms and convexity	3
3	ϕ^4 theory in $D < 6$ dimensions	6
	3.1 2 < D < 4	8
	3.2 4 < D < 6	9
4	The strongly-coupled fixed point	12
	4.1 Three dimensions: the zeta function on S^2	13
	4.2 Five dimensions: the zeta function on S^4	15
	4.2.1 Expansions of the zeta function	15
	4.2.2 Free energy and conformal dimensions	16
	4.2.3 A phase transition on the cylinder	18
	4.3 $D = 4 + \epsilon$ and $D = 6 - \epsilon$	20
5	Conclusions	21
Α	Resurgence of the four-sphere	22

1 Introduction

In the study of strongly coupled systems it is often convenient to introduce control parameters with the goal of organizing perturbatively an analytic computation in an appropriate limit. In the case of the O(2N) vector model, in the limit $N \to \infty$ one obtains an expansion around a semiclassical description in terms of a collective field [1–7]. Remarkably, this semiclassical description captures the qualitative features of the quantum behavior of the system. However, it is nonetheless useful to introduce yet another control parameter in order to extract physical information from this semiclassical description. We choose to work in a sector of large global charge Q here [8],¹ working in the double-scaling limit $N \to \infty$, $Q \to \infty$ with Q/N fixed [10–13].²

In this work (and the companion paper [24]) we use this technology to derive the large-N effective potential without having to resort to Feynman-diagram techniques. The large-N effective potential of the O(2N) has been studied in a variety of works, starting from the seminal work of Coleman, Jackiw and Politzer [25]. Since we are interested in the

¹For a review of the large charge expansion see [9].

²Also other double-scaling limits, e.g. involving the ϵ expansion have proved useful in the context of the large charge expansion, see [14–23].

consistency of the theory in various dimensions and want to calculate scaling dimensions via the state-operator correspondence, it is natural for us to study the effective potential in terms of the vector field, as done in [26, 27], instead of the Stratonovich collective field used in [25]. Our observation is that these two effective potentials are related by a Legendre transform. In our fixed-charge analysis, the latter is identified with the grand potential. In this way we can describe the phase diagram of the vector model in the presence of ϕ^2 and ϕ^4 operators in any dimension in a compact way, generalizing previous computations that typically concentrate on the behavior around the fixed points [26, 27]. This goes far beyond previous applications of the large charge expansion, which has to date been mostly studied at the conformal point only, with few exceptions [28–30].

Here we concentrate on the interval 4 < D < 6 in Euclidean space (see [31, 32]). Imposing the convexity of the effective potential, we find that the standard ϕ^4 model is not ultraviolet (UV) complete if we require unitarity, consistently with recent observations [12, 33, 34]. We also present a possible completion in terms of a complexified effective potential, describing the flow to a non-unitary conformal field theory (CFT) for which we compute the (complex) dimensions of the lowest operators of given charge, finding complete agreement with the existing literature [12, 33–35]. This is reminiscent of complex CFTs obtained from the merging and annihilation of perturbative fixed points, corresponding to walking renormalization group (RG) flows and weakly first-order phase transitions [19, 36–44]; however, in the case at hand, it seems that the mechanism of the generation of complex dimensions is different since it is related to instabilities of the theory. Having access to the phase diagram, we also find a previously unknown metastable massive phase for the model on the cylinder $\mathbb{R} \times S^d$, much in the spirit of [33], and we show that the CFT remains unstable also in the small-charge regime in which the conformal dimensions are real [12, 34, 35, 45, 46].

More in general, having a non-perturbative description of the effective potential, we can relate the stability of the model to the convexity of its free energy and — at criticality, via the state-operator correspondence — to the convexity of the conformal dimension $\Delta(Q)$ of the lowest operator of given charge. This provides further evidence in favor of the recent proposal by Aharony and Palti related to the weak gravity conjecture [47], confirming the recent large-charge analysis in [48].

The outline of this paper is as follows. In section 2 we discuss classical arguments for the convexity of the effective potential. We then go on to apply this knowledge to the context of a theory at fixed charge Q. There we encounter two Legendre transforms: one that relates the effective potential to the grand potential and one that relates the grand potential to the free energy. We discuss these relations qualitatively and discuss the issue of convexity.

In section 3 we apply the acquired knowledge to the ϕ^4 -theory with a global O(2N) symmetry in the large-N limit. We discuss the theory and the effective potential for spacetime dimensions 2 < D < 4 and 4 < D < 6. Using Legendre transforms we show that the behavior and the properties of the effective potential varies significantly between the two cases. We argue that, while the theory flows to a Wilson-Fisher (WF) fixed-point for 2 < D < 4, in 4 < D < 6 the ϕ^4 -theory is not unitary. We discuss the case D = 5 in

detail and explicitly compute the effective potential as a Legendre transform of the known grand potential. We show that the effective potential exhibits a branch cut and becomes complex in the UV.

In section 4 we investigate the strongly coupled fixed points. We use a perturbative definition of the Legendre transform to compute the scaling dimension in both the large Q/N and the small Q/N regime. We first discuss D = 3 and D = 5 for both regimes and compare the resulting scaling dimensions. We show that the results for D = 5 are unsound: for large Q/N the theory is non-unitary and for small Q/N the free energy/scaling dimension appears to be non-convex in Q. Meanwhile, for D = 3, the scaling dimension is perfectly sound, convex and shows no violation of unitarity. In addition, a resurgent analysis can be performed to interpolate between the small Q/N and the large Q/N regime [13]. We then also discuss the spacetime dimensions $D = 4 \pm \epsilon$ and $D = 6 \pm \epsilon$ and compute the leading term of the scaling dimension.

In the appendix we present the resurgent analysis for the theory in D = 5 using the techniques of [13], extending from the two-sphere to higher dimensions.

2 Effective actions, Legendre transforms and convexity

Convexity of the effective potential. To start, let us review some classical arguments on the convexity of the effective potential [49–51]. Consider the theory of a complex scalar field ϕ , invariant under a U(1) symmetry that acts linearly, $\phi \to e^{i\epsilon}\phi$. We want to formulate the theory in terms of an effective potential. Using the standard procedure we add a linear source term to the path integral and write the generating functional

$$Z[J] = \langle 0|0\rangle_J = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S[\phi] - \int J\phi \mathrm{d}^D x}}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S[\phi]}}.$$
(2.1)

The logarithm of Z[J] is the connected generating functional

$$W[J] = \log Z[J]. \tag{2.2}$$

It is convenient to consider the Legendre dual of W[J]. We define the classical field

$$\phi_c = \frac{\delta W}{\delta J} \tag{2.3}$$

and the effective action

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = W^*[\phi_c] = J\phi_c - W[J] \Big|_{J=J(\phi_c)}.$$
(2.4)

Expanding $\Gamma[\phi_c]$ around the value $\phi_c={\rm const.}$ we find

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = \int \mathrm{d}^D x \left[V(\phi_c) + Z(\phi_c) \,\partial_\mu \phi_c^* \,\partial_\mu \phi_c + \ldots \right], \tag{2.5}$$

where V is the effective potential. The U(1) symmetry requires all the functions to depend only on the absolute value $|\phi_c|$, so that $V(\phi_c) = V(|\phi_c|)$. As long the path integral has a positive definite measure, W[J] is a convex function. This is in general true for the logarithm of the partition function as function of any parameter that enters linearly in the action. The argument is based on Hölder's inequality: if $d\mu$ is a positive measure, then for f and g positive functions one has

$$\int \mathrm{d}\mu \, f^{\lambda} g^{1-\lambda} \le \left(\int \mathrm{d}\mu \, f \right)^{\lambda} \left(\int \mathrm{d}\mu \, g \right)^{1-\lambda},\tag{2.6}$$

where $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$. For a given field theory, we define the normalized measure

$$d\mu = \frac{\mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S[\Phi]}}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S[\phi]}} \tag{2.7}$$

and consider the expectation value

$$Z[\alpha] = \frac{1}{Z[0]} \left\langle \exp\left[\int \mathrm{d}^D x \sum_i \alpha_i(x) f_i(\phi)\right] \right\rangle = \frac{1}{Z[0]} \int \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{-S[\Phi]} \exp\left[\int \mathrm{d}^D x \sum_i \alpha_i f_i(\phi)\right]$$
$$= \int \mathrm{d}\mu \exp\left[\int \mathrm{d}^D x \sum_i \alpha_i f_i(\phi)\right],$$
(2.8)

where the α_i are functions of x. For $0 < \lambda < 1$, take

$$Z[\lambda \alpha + (1-\lambda)\beta] = \int d\mu \exp\left[\int d^D x \sum_i (\lambda \alpha_i + (1-\lambda)\beta_i) f_i(\phi)\right].$$
 (2.9)

By the inequality,

$$Z[\lambda\alpha + (1-\lambda)\beta] \le \frac{\left(\int \mathrm{d}\mu \exp\left[\int \mathrm{d}^D x \sum_i \alpha_i f_i(\phi)\right]\right)^{\lambda}}{\left(\int \mathrm{d}\mu \exp\left[\int \mathrm{d}^D x \sum_i \beta_i f_i(\phi)\right]\right)^{\lambda-1}} = Z[\alpha]^{\lambda} Z[\beta]^{1-\lambda}, \qquad (2.10)$$

and taking the logarithm,

$$\log(Z[\lambda\alpha + (1-\lambda)\beta]) \le \lambda \log(Z[\alpha]) + (1-\lambda)\log(Z[\beta]).$$
(2.11)

The Legendre transform of a convex function is convex. It follows that $\Gamma[\phi_c]$ is convex and since this property has to remain true for constant ϕ_c , also the effective potential $V(\phi_c)$ must be a convex function.³

$$e^{-U(\phi)} = \int \mathcal{D}\hat{\phi}\,\delta\left(\frac{1}{V}\int \mathrm{d}^{D}x\left(\phi - \hat{\phi}\right)\right)e^{-S[\hat{\phi}]},\tag{2.12}$$

³This is true also in finite volume. For strongly-coupled systems that are studied numerically, it is convenient to introduce another quantity, the constraint effective potential U:

which is related to the effective potential by a Legendre transform. $U(\phi)$ is in general not convex but coincides with $V(\phi_c)$ in the decompactification limit [52].

Fixed charge and Legendre transforms. We want to study our system in a sector of fixed charge. We start with an effective action with a canonical kinetic term

$$\Gamma[\phi_c] = \int \mathrm{d}^D x \left[\partial_\mu \phi_c^* \partial_\mu \phi_c - V(|\phi_c|) \right].$$
(2.13)

Then the conserved U(1) charge has the form

$$Q = i \int \mathrm{d}^{D-1} x \left(\dot{\phi}_c^* \phi_c - \phi_c^* \dot{\phi}_c \right). \tag{2.14}$$

To study the system at fixed charge, we make the ansatz⁴

$$|\phi_c| = \Phi, \qquad \arg(\phi_c) = -im\tau, \qquad (2.15)$$

which corresponds to a ground state with fixed chemical potential.⁵ To compute the energy of the ground state as a function of Q, we can solve the problem in two steps. First we eliminate Φ using the equations of motion (EOM) for the radial mode,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}(\Phi^2)} \Big[m^2 \Phi^2 - V(\Phi) \Big] = m^2 - \frac{\mathrm{d}V}{\mathrm{d}(\Phi^2)} = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

to write the vacuum expectation value (VEV) of the Lagrangian as function of m^2 alone,

$$\omega(m) = \Phi^2 m^2 - V(\Phi) \Big|_{\Phi = \Phi(m)}.$$
(2.17)

Then we write the corresponding energy density f using the momentum associated to m (i.e. the charge density ρ):

$$\rho = \frac{\delta\omega}{\delta m} = 2m\Phi^2(m), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$f(\rho) = [\rho m - \omega(m)]_{m=m(\rho)}.$$
 (2.19)

An effective action with canonical kinetic term clearly does not represent the general case. In the O(2N) model at leading order in N the effective action in terms of the fundamental field ϕ is non-local (see [27, 53, 54]), but when evaluated on our ansatz it still takes the form in eq. (2.17), which is what we base our analysis on.

It is easy to recognize two Legendre transforms. If we introduce the notation

$$x = |\phi_c|^2, \qquad \Upsilon(x) = V(\sqrt{x}), \qquad y = m^2, \qquad \varpi(y) = \omega(\sqrt{y}), \qquad (2.20)$$

the chain of transformations becomes

$$V(\phi_c) = \Upsilon(|\phi_c|^2) \to \Upsilon^*(m^2) = \varpi(m^2) = \omega(m) \to \omega^*(\rho) = f(\rho).$$
(2.21)

For convex functions, the direction of the arrows can be interchanged, since the Legendre transform is an involution, and we can, for example, compute the effective potential from the knowledge of $\omega(m)$, as we will do in the following.

The minimization condition derived above admits in general complex solutions. There are two possible stances we can take:

 $^{^{4}\}mathrm{The}$ imaginary unit in the argument is due to the Wick rotation.

⁵This ansatz implies spontaneous symmetry breaking that can also happen in finite volume and finite N in the limit of large charge (see the discussion in appendix B in [9]).

• We define the Legendre transform as

$$f^*(y) = \sup_{x} (xy - f(x)).$$
 (2.22)

In this case, $f^*(y)$ takes values on the extended real line $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$ and the result is always real.

• We use the naive definition as seen above which leads in general to multivalued complex functions.

The two definitions coincide as long as f(x) is smooth and convex. In this case, the Legendre transform is an involution and preserves convexity. In general, the definition with the supremum always leads to a convex function. While in the context of classical thermodynamics it is clear that the supremum definition is the physical one [50], the situation is less clear-cut for quantum systems, since also complex saddles of the path integral have a meaning, as exemplified by resurgence theory [55].

As discussed above, of all the functions that we have defined only $V(\phi_c)$ is always convex for a unitary theory. In the following we will use this property as a *necessary condition* for the unitarity of a given theory. Note however that the convexity of V and the convexity of Υ are related in a non-trivial way:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\Upsilon}{\mathrm{d}y^2} = \frac{1}{4\phi_c^2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^2V}{\mathrm{d}\phi_c^2} - \frac{1}{\phi_c} \frac{\mathrm{d}V}{\mathrm{d}\phi_c} \right). \tag{2.23}$$

For large values of ϕ_c , the effective potential has to be an increasing function, therefore Υ does not have to be convex in general.

3 ϕ^4 theory in D < 6 dimensions

In this section we apply our general considerations to the case of the O(2N)-symmetric ϕ^4 model in D spacetime dimensions in the limit of large N. In this case it is possible to compute directly the grand potential $\omega(m)$ that appeared in eq. (2.17) and use it to derive the effective potential.

We start with the action for N complex scalar fields ϕ_i on $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathcal{M}$,

$$S[\phi_i] = -\int \mathrm{d}\tau \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{M}\left[g^{\mu\nu}(\partial_\mu\phi_i)^{\dagger}(\partial_\nu\phi_i) - r(\phi_i^{\dagger}\phi_i) - \frac{u}{2N}(\phi_i^{\dagger}\phi_i)^2\right].$$
(3.1)

Depending on D, the quartic term is either relevant or irrelevant (from the p.o.v. of the free theory):

- For 2 < D < 4, the operator is relevant. If we fine-tune r = R(D-2)/(4(D-1)) (the conformal coupling), the theory flows from a free theory in the UV for u = 0 to a strongly-coupled CFT for $u \to \infty$ (the WF fixed point).
- For 4 < D < 6, the operator is irrelevant. If we fine-tune r, the expectation is that the flow connects an infrared (IR) free fixed point at u = 0 to a strongly-coupled CFT in the IR for $u \to \infty$. In the following we will show that this latter theory is not unitary.

Following [10], we want to compute the free energy of the model restricted to the completely symmetric representation, which corresponds to the energy of the homogeneous ground state in the sector of total fixed charge Q [18, 56]. In the double-scaling limit of large N and large Q with Q/N fixed (which can be large or small), this free energy is the Legendre transform of the grand potential $\Omega(m) = V_{\mathcal{M}}\omega(m)$, whose leading-order behavior can be computed formally generalizing Stratonovich's construction. As shown in [10, 24],

$$\omega(m) = (2N) \left[-\frac{1}{2V_{\mathcal{M}}} \zeta(-1/2 \mid \mathcal{M}, m) + \frac{(m^2 - r)^2}{4u} \right],$$
(3.2)

where $\zeta(s \mid \mathcal{M}, m)$ is the zeta function for the operator $(\triangle_{\mathcal{M}} - m^2)$.

Since we want to write the effective action in flat space, we can use the zeta function on a torus of side L. It is convenient to write $\zeta(s \mid T^{D-1}, m)$ as a Mellin integral,

$$\zeta(s \mid T^{D-1}, m) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} t^s e^{-m^2 t} \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\,\Delta}\right],\tag{3.3}$$

and the heat kernel in terms of Weyl's asymptotic expansion,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\,\Delta}\right] = \frac{V_{T^{D-1}}}{(4\pi t)^{(D-1)/2}} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-L^2/(4t)}\right)$$
(3.4)

so that

$$\zeta(s \mid T^{D-1}, m) = \frac{V_{T^{D-1}} \Gamma(s - \frac{D-1}{2})}{(4\pi)^{(D-1)/2} \Gamma(s)} m^{D-1-2s}.$$
(3.5)

The grand potential ω is then given by

$$\omega(m) = (2N) \left[\frac{\Gamma(-\frac{D}{2})}{2(4\pi)^{D/2}} m^D + \frac{(m^2 - r)^2}{4u} \right].$$
(3.6)

This function contains all the information about the leading-N behavior of the phase diagram of the vector model with quadratic and quartic operators. If we fine-tune r to the conformal coupling, it describes the flow that joins the Gaussian $(u \to 0)$ and the strongly coupled $(u \to \infty)$ fixed points.

The only non-trivial function is the coefficient $\Gamma(-D/2)$ of the first term. It is positive if 4n - 2 < D < 4n, negative if 4n < D < 4n + 2 and diverges for D even (see figure 1). This is consistent with the fact that there is no WF point for even dimensions.

Starting from the grand potential we can use the technology developed in the previous section to write an effective potential $V(\phi_c)$ for the vector model in terms of 2N classical fields ϕ_c^a . $V(\phi_c)$ is determined by the condition that at fixed charge it must reproduce the physics in the double-scaling limit described by ω in eq. (3.2) [24]. While ω was obtained from a fixed-charge computation, $V(\phi_c)$ is valid for any value of the charge. The O(2N) symmetry requires that the potential depends only on the invariant combination $\phi_c^a \phi_c^a$, that by a slight abuse of notation we will indicate in the following as ϕ_c^2 :

$$\phi_c^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{2N} \phi_c^a \phi_c^a.$$
(3.7)



Figure 1. The leading term in the grand potential on the torus $\propto \Gamma(-D/2)$ for 0 < D < 7. The function is positive for 2 < D < 4, 6 < D < 8, etc.

As we have seen in section 2, the effective potential has to be a convex function. Following the chain of transformations in eq. (2.21) we can turn this into a consistency condition on the convexity of ϖ . To identify a possible flex in ϖ , we compute the second derivative and find:

$$\varpi''(y) = \frac{D(D-2)N}{4(4\pi)^{D/2}} \Gamma(-D/2) y^{(D-4)/2} + \frac{N}{u}, \qquad (3.8)$$

which has a zero for positive y only when $\Gamma(-D/2) < 0$. In figure 1, $\Gamma(-D/2)$ is plotted and we see that it is positive in certain intervals of the dimension and negative in others. We focus here on the intervals 2 < D < 4 and 4 < D < 6.

3.1 2 < D < 4

For 2 < D < 4 the gamma function is positive, $\Gamma(-D/2) > 0$. It follows that ϖ is convex for all values of y. All the Legendre transforms are well-defined, and the theory fulfills our necessary condition for unitarity. As shown in [24], in D = 3 we can compute the effective potential explicitly,

$$V(\phi_c) = \frac{Nu^3}{3 \times 2^{10} \pi^4} \left(1 + 96\pi^2 \left(\frac{\phi_c^2}{Nu} + \frac{r}{u^2} \right) + 1536\pi^4 \left(\frac{\phi_c^2}{Nu} + \frac{r}{u^2} \right)^2 - \left(1 + 64\pi^2 \left(\frac{\phi_c^2}{Nu} + \frac{r}{u^2} \right) \right)^{3/2} \right),$$
(3.9)

In the critical r = 0 case this result had originally been found in [27] from a resummation of infinitely many Feynman diagrams.

This expression becomes more transparent if we look at the limits of small u and large u, for example at r = 0.

• For small values of u, the effective potential reproduces the standard large-N loop expansion around the Gaussian fixed point [27],

$$V(\phi_c) = \frac{u}{2N} \phi_c^4 \left[1 - \frac{1}{3\pi} \frac{\sqrt{Nu}}{\phi_c} + \mathcal{O}(u) \right].$$
 (3.10)

• For large values of u we have a perturbative expansion in 1/u around the WF point,

$$V(\phi_c) = \frac{16\pi^2}{3N^2} \phi_c^6 \left[1 - 24\pi^2 \frac{\phi_c^2}{Nu} + \mathcal{O}\left(u^{-2}\right) \right].$$
 (3.11)

In 2 < D < 4, the condition of convexity is always fulfilled. This is however only a necessary condition for unitarity. In fact, it appears that for $D = 4 - \epsilon$ the theory is not unitary [57] even though the effective potential is convex.

3.2 4 < D < 6

For 4 < D < 6, the gamma function is negative, $\Gamma(-D/2) < 0$, so ϖ and has a flex for positive values of y:

$$\varpi''(\bar{y}) = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \bar{y}^{(D-4)/2} = \frac{4(4\pi)^{D/2}}{uD(D-2)|\Gamma(-D/2)|}.$$
(3.12)

The flex separates a convex region for small values of u around the free IR fixed point from a concave region for large u, around the conjectural strongly coupled UV fixed point (figure 2)). Using $x = \varpi'(y)$ we can express the position of the flex in terms of ϕ_c :

$$\bar{x} = \bar{\phi}_c^2 = \frac{(D-4)(4\pi)^{D/(D-4)}N}{\left(\frac{D}{4}\left|\Gamma(-\frac{D}{2})\right|\right)^{2/(D-4)}(D-2)^{(D-2)/(D-4)}}u^{-(D-2)/(D-4)} - \frac{Nr}{u}.$$
(3.13)

In this situation, we need to use the supremum definition of Legendre transform eq. (2.22):

$$\Upsilon(x) = \sup_{y>0} (xy - \varpi(y)). \tag{3.14}$$

For $x < \bar{x}$, the supremum is obtained by differentiating the argument at fixed x and expressing y as function of x:

$$x = \varpi'(y). \tag{3.15}$$

For $x > \bar{x}$, on the other hand, there is no value of y such that $x = \overline{\omega}'(y)$ (see figure 2). The supremum is then obtained by minimizing $\overline{\omega}$, but this function is not bounded below, so the supremum is $+\infty$.⁶

For r < 0 (the broken phase), the tree-level potential takes a double-well shape. Owing to the supremum definition of the Legendre transform, the non-convex region of the tree-level potential becomes constant in the effective potential $V(\phi_c)$ in analogy with the

⁶Technically we are using the notion of convex conjugate, defined on the extended real line $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\pm \infty\}$).



Figure 2. The function $\varpi(y)$ (left) and its first derivative $\varpi'(y)$ (right) on flat space (the torus). The function $\varpi(y)$ has a flex at $y = \bar{y}$ that separates a convex region for $y < \bar{y}$ from a concave one. The maximization condition $x = \varpi'(y)$ admits two solutions for $x < \bar{x} = \varpi'(\bar{y})$ and no real solutions for $x > \bar{x}$; the physical branch corresponds to the first intersection (right).



Figure 3. Effective potential in five dimensions: unbroken (r > 0), critical (r = 0) and broken phase (r < 0). The dotted lines represent the tree-level potential, the red lines represent the effective potential that is always convex. In the shaded region the effective potential is infinite, signaling the breakdown of the effective field theory (eff) which requires a uv completion.

classical Maxwell rule for coexisting phases [24, 51]. All in all, in the unbroken phase and at criticality (i.e. for $r \ge 0$) we have

$$\Upsilon(x) = \begin{cases} xy - \varpi(y)|_{y=y(x)} & \text{for } x < \bar{x}, \\ +\infty & \text{for } x \ge \bar{x}. \end{cases}$$
(3.16)

In the broken phase r < 0, there are three distinct regions:

$$\Upsilon(x) = \begin{cases} -\frac{Nr^2}{2u} & \text{for } 0 < x < -\frac{rN}{u}, \\ xy - \varpi(y)|_{y=y(x)} & \text{for } -\frac{rN}{u} < x < \bar{x}, \\ +\infty & \text{for } x \ge \bar{x}, \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

see figure **3**.

For concreteness, we consider the case of D = 5, where we have $\Gamma(-5/2) = -8\sqrt{\pi}/15$, so that the grand potential is

$$\omega(m) = (2N) \left(-\frac{m^5}{120\pi^2} + \frac{(m^2 - r)^2}{4u} \right)$$
(3.18)

and there is a flex for

$$\bar{y} = \frac{(4\pi)^4}{u^2}, \qquad \bar{x} = \frac{(4\pi)^4}{3u^3}N - \frac{rN}{u}.$$
 (3.19)

The effective potential describes a box with infinitely high walls of width

$$2\bar{\phi}_c = 2\sqrt{\frac{N}{3}}\frac{(4\pi)^2}{u^{3/2}}\sqrt{1-\frac{3ru^2}{(4\pi)^4}},\tag{3.20}$$

signaling the breakdown of the EFT which requires a UV completion. The infinite walls hide the unphysical region corresponding to large values of u that contains the ostensible fixed point.

Within the box, the effective potential can be computed explicitly and expressed in terms of trigonometric functions:

$$V(\phi_c) = \Upsilon(\phi_c^2) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^+} (\phi_c^2 y - \varpi(y))$$

= $\frac{2^{11} \pi^8 N}{5u^5} \left(4 \sin\left(\frac{10\theta + \pi}{6}\right) + 20 \sin\left(\frac{4\theta + \pi}{6}\right) + 10 \cos\left(\frac{4\theta + \pi}{3}\right) + 20 \cos\left(\frac{\theta + \pi}{3}\right) - 20 \cos(\theta) - 7 \right) - \frac{Nr^2}{2u},$
(3.21)

where

$$\cos(\theta) = 1 - 2\frac{\phi_c^2}{\bar{\phi}_c^2} - \frac{6ru^2}{(4\pi)^4} \left(1 - \frac{\phi_c^2}{\bar{\phi}_c^2}\right).$$
(3.22)

This result is much more transparent if we expand it in a series for small u and small r, i.e. around the free IR fixed point. The effective potential contains all the (infinitely many) leading-N corrections to the tree-level potential:

$$V(\phi_c) = \left(\phi_c^2 r + \frac{Nr^{5/2}}{60\pi^2}\dots\right) + \left(\frac{\phi_c^4}{2N} + \frac{\phi_c^2 r^{3/2}}{24\pi^2} + \frac{Nr^3}{1152\pi^4}\dots\right) u + \left(\frac{\phi_c^4 \sqrt{r}}{32N\pi^2} + \frac{\phi_c^2 r^2}{384\pi^4}\dots\right) u^2 + \dots$$
(3.23)

In the critical phase (r = 0) we have an expansion in the only possible dimensionless combination $(u^{3/2}\phi_c)$:

$$V(\phi_c) = \frac{u\phi_c^4}{2N} \left(1 + \frac{4}{5} \left(\frac{u^{3/2}\phi_c}{24\pi^2\sqrt{N}} \right) + \left(\frac{u^{3/2}\phi_c}{24\pi^2\sqrt{N}} \right)^2 + \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{u^{3/2}\phi_c}{24\pi^2\sqrt{N}} \right)^3 + \frac{5}{2} \left(\frac{u^{3/2}\phi_c}{24\pi^2\sqrt{N}} \right)^4 + \dots \right).$$
(3.24)

This expansion can also be interpreted in terms of Feynman diagrams around the free IR fixed point.

Beyond $\phi_c = \bar{\phi}_c$ (which vanishes in the UV limit $u \to \infty$), the effective potential obtained with the supremum definition of the Legendre transform is literally infinite. In other words, the theory needs a UV completion.

We can however decide to extend the effective potential to a complex function and admit complex solutions for the maximization condition

$$x = \varpi'(y). \tag{3.25}$$

Now this equation describes a Riemann surface and $x = \bar{x}$ is a branch point that is joined to infinity by a branch cut. For example, we can choose one of the branches and can expand the complex function $V(\phi_c) = \Upsilon(\sqrt{\phi_c})$ around $u \to \infty$, where the strongly coupled UV CFT is expected to live, to find

$$V(\phi_c) = \frac{12}{5} \left(\frac{3\pi^2}{N}\right)^{2/3} e^{2\pi i/3} \phi^{10/3} \left(1 + 10e^{\pi i/3} \left(\frac{N\pi^4}{3}\right)^{1/3} \frac{1}{\phi^{2/3} u} + 80e^{2\pi i/3} \left(\frac{N\pi^4}{3}\right)^{2/3} \frac{1}{\phi^{4/3} u^2} - \frac{1600N\pi^4}{9\phi^2 u^3} + \mathcal{O}\left(u^{-4}\right)\right).$$
(3.26)

In the next section we will use the leading term of this expansion to compute the conformal dimension of the lowest operator of given charge Q and show perfect agreement with the results in the literature.

4 The strongly-coupled fixed point

We have seen in section 2 that the free energy density (at fixed charge density) can be obtained via a Legendre transform of the grand potential density ω that we have used for the effective potential, but this time with respect to the variable m. Since at the conformal point we are interested in the scaling dimensions, we use the free energy instead of its density:

$$F(Q) = \sup_{m>0} (Qm - \Omega(m)),$$
 (4.1)

where $\Omega(m) = V_{\mathcal{M}}\omega(m)$. Since the Legendre transform preserves homogeneity, the free energy as function of the charge F = F(Q) has the same functional form as the free energy density as function of the charge density $f = f(\rho)$ in eq. (2.19). In a CFT, the physics on \mathbb{R}^{d+1} is equivalent to the physics on the cylinder $\mathbb{R} \times S^d(r_0)$ and the free energy on the sphere is identified via the state-operator correspondence with the conformal dimension of the lowest operator of given charge Q:⁷

$$\Delta(Q) = r_0 F_{S^d}(Q). \tag{4.2}$$

In general the convexity of Ω as a function of m^2 — discussed in the previous section and the convexity of Ω as a function of m are non-trivially related. There might be regions in which $\Omega(m)$ is not convex, however this *does not signal a breakdown of the theory*. The supremum definition of the Legendre transform always leads to a free energy that is convex as a function of a positive charge Q (or at worst equal to $+\infty$). It is important to note

 $^{^{7}}$ One can alternatively derive the conformal dimensions directly from the effective potential using the Callan-Symanzik equations, as it is done for example in [58].

that the fixed-chemical potential regime described by $\Omega(m)$ and the fixed-charge regime described by F(Q) are in general different. Regions in which $\Omega(m)$ is not convex cannot be reached by fixing the charge (see e.g. the discussion in the appendix of [9]).

Even if Ω is convex, there can be regions that are not accessible at fixed charge. The charge is positive and the maximization equation $Q = \Omega'(m)$ has no solutions for values of m where $\Omega(m)$ is decreasing. We will see that this is the case for the model in D = 3 dimensions. The boundary of the accessible region (where $\Omega'(m) > 0$) is at $m^2 = 1/(4r_0^2)$. This is precisely the value to which r needs to be fine-tuned to flow to the conformal fixed point. More in general, Ω can also have concave regions even in a well-defined theory. An explicit example is the massive phase in D = 3 which is investigated in [24].

The grand potential is again given in terms of a zeta function, this time for the Laplacian on the sphere:

$$\Omega(m) = -N\zeta(-1/2|S^d, m).$$
(4.3)

For d even, there exist both a series expansion with a finite radius of convergence for small values of m, and an asymptotic expansion for $m \to \infty$. We will separately discuss the cases d = 2 and d = 4 that, as we have seen in the previous section, correspond respectively to a well-defined and a non-unitary theory.

4.1 Three dimensions: the zeta function on S^2

The zeta function for the two-sphere has been discussed in [10, 13]. It cannot be expressed in terms of elementary functions, but we can give an asymptotic expansion for large values of m and a convergent expansion at small m:

• At large m we write $\zeta(s \mid S^2, m)$ as a Mellin transform of the heat kernel:

$$\zeta(s \mid S^2, m) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} t^s e^{-m^2 t} \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t \, \triangle_{S^2}}\right]. \tag{4.4}$$

Using the known form of the asymptotic expansion for small t of the heat kernel,

$$g(t) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\left(\bigtriangleup - 1/4r_0^2\right)}\right] \sim \frac{r_0^2}{t} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n (1 - 2^{1-2n})}{n! r_0^{2n-2}} B_{2n} t^{n-1} \equiv \frac{r_0^2}{t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \left(\frac{t}{r_0^2}\right)^n,$$
(4.5)

we derive the large-m asymptotic expansion for the grand potential

$$\Omega(m) = -N\zeta(-1/2 \mid S^2, m^2) = \frac{2N}{r_0} \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{1}{4}\right)^{3/2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Omega_n}{(m^2 r_0^2 - 1/4)^n}, \quad (4.6)$$

where the coefficients are given by

$$\Omega_n = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{(-1)^k}{(k\pi)^{2n}} \Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(n - \frac{3}{2}\right).$$
(4.7)



Figure 4. The grand potential $\Omega(m)$ (left) and its first derivative $\Omega'(m)$ (right) on the twosphere. The function $\Omega(m)$ is convex for all values of m and has a minimum for $m = 1/(2r_0)$. The maximization condition has a solution with $Q \ge 0$ in the region $m \ge 1/(2r_0)$ (right).

• In the opposite limit of small *m*, one can instead derive a convergent expansion from the definition in terms of eigenvalues:

$$\Omega(m) = -N\zeta(-1/2|S^2, m) = -N\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (2l+1) \left(\frac{l(l+1)}{r_0^2} + m^2\right)^{-s} \Big|_{s=-1/2}$$
$$= -2Nr_0^{2s}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {\binom{-s}{k}} \zeta(2s+2k-1;1/2) \left(m^2r_0^2 - \frac{1}{4}\right)^k \Big|_{s=-1/2}, \quad (4.8)$$

where $\zeta(s; a)$ is the Hurwitz zeta function

$$\zeta(s;a) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+a)^{-s}.$$
(4.9)

The explicit form of the convergent expansion shows that $\Omega(m)$ is always convex and has a minimum for $m = 1/(2r_0)$, where it also vanishes:

$$\Omega(m)\Big|_{m=1/(2r_0)} = 0, \qquad \qquad \Omega'(m)\Big|_{m=1/(2r_0)} = 0. \tag{4.10}$$

We can perform the Legendre transform order by order and find a solution to the maximization condition $Q = \Omega'(m)$ (i.e. $\rho = \omega'(m)$) for positive values of Q in the region $m > 1/(2r_0)$ (see figure 4). The boundary $m^2 = 1/(4r_0^2)$ is precisely the value of the conformal coupling $m^2 = R/8$ to which r needs to be fine-tuned in the UV action for the model to flow to the WF fixed point in the IR.

The explicit expressions for F(Q) in the asymptotic $Q \gg 1$ and in the convergent $Q \ll 1$ regions have been computed in [10]:

$$r_0 \frac{F(Q)}{2N} = \frac{2}{3} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{3/2} + \frac{1}{6} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{1/2} - \frac{7}{720} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{-1/2} + \dots$$
(4.11)

$$r_0 \frac{F(Q)}{2N} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right) + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^2 + \frac{16\left(\pi^2 - 12\right)}{3\pi^4} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^3 + \dots$$
(4.12)

A resurgence analysis has been performed in [13] to interpolate between the two regions.

4.2 Five dimensions: the zeta function on S^4

For d = 4 we have seen in the previous section that the Legendre transform leads to an inaccessible region that hides the expected non-trivial UV fixed point. One can however continue the effective potential $V(\phi_c)$ analytically and study the behavior of the theory around $u \to \infty$ starting from the zeta function on S^4 in analogy to the three-dimensional case above.

4.2.1 Expansions of the zeta function

The heat kernel traces for even-dimensional spheres are related by a recursion relation [59] which we can use starting from the results of the two-sphere:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{\Delta_{S^{2n}}t}\right](t) = \sum_{l\geq 0} \left[\frac{2l+2n-1}{2n-1}\prod_{k=1}^{2n-2}\frac{l+k}{k}\right]e^{-l(l+2n-1)t/r_0^2}$$

$$= \frac{e^{(n-1/2)^2t/r_0^2}}{(2n-1)!}\sum_{j=0}^{n-1}\beta_{j;n}(-1)^j r_0^{2j}\frac{\mathrm{d}^j g(t)}{\mathrm{d}t^j},$$
(4.13)

where g(t) is the trace of the heat kernel that we have seen above,

$$g(t) = \text{Tr}\Big[e^{t\left(\triangle_{S^2} - 1/4r_0^2\right)}\Big],$$
(4.14)

and the coefficients $\beta_{j;n}$ are defined by the relationship

$$\frac{2s}{(2n-1)!} \prod_{j=\frac{1}{2},\frac{3}{2},\dots}^{n-3/2} \left(s^2 - j^2\right) = \frac{2s}{(2n-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \beta_{j;n} s^{2j}.$$
(4.15)

From a generalization of this relation one can derive a similar formula for the zeta function on a generic sphere:⁸

$$\zeta(s \mid S^{2n}, m) = \frac{r_0^{2s}}{(2n-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \beta_{j;n} \sum_{k=0}^{j} {j \choose k} (-1)^k \left(m^2 r_0^2 - (n-1/2)^2 \right)^{j-k} \times r_0^{2k} \zeta \left(s - k \mid S^2, \sqrt{m^2 - (n^2 - n)r_0^{-2}} \right).$$
(4.16)

Once more there are two interesting regimes:

Large *m*. For large values of *m* (which corresponds to large values of Q/N) we can expand the trace of the heat kernel in the small *t*-limit, since the Mellin integral localizes around t = 0. On the four-sphere the relation eq. (4.13) gives $(\beta_{0;2} = -\frac{1}{4}, \beta_{1;2} = 1)$

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{\Delta_{S^4}t}\right] = \frac{e^{9/4r_0^2 t}}{6} \left(\beta_{0;2} - \beta_{1;2}r_0^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)g(t).$$
(4.17)

⁸This expression relies on an integration by parts and needs to be suitably continued for $m^2 r_0^2 < (n - 1/2)^2$.

The zeta function in the Mellin representation is then

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta(s \mid S^4, m) &= -\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} t^s e^{-m^2 t} \left(\frac{e^{9/4r_0^2 t}}{24} g(t) + \frac{e^{9/4r_0^2 t}}{6} r_0^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}g(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} \right) \\ &= \frac{r_0^{2s}}{6(s-1)(s-2)} \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{9}{4} \right)^{2-s} \\ &+ \frac{r_0^{2s}}{24} \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{\left(-1\right)^k \left(2^{2k+1} - 1\right) B_{2k}}{2^{2k-1} \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{9}{4}\right)^{k+s-1}} \frac{\Gamma(s+k-1)}{\Gamma(s)k!} \left[\frac{\left(2^{2k-1} - 1\right)}{(2^{2k+1} - 1)} - \frac{kB_{2k+2}}{(k+1)B_{2k}} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.18)$$

This expansion is asymptotic and can be studied using resurgence, see appendix A.

Small m. The other interesting limit is for small values of m, where the zeta function is expanded into a convergent series valid in the regime $0 < mr_0 < 3/\sqrt{2}$:

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta(s \mid S^4, m) &= \sum_{l \ge 0} \left[\frac{2l+3}{3} \prod_{k=1}^2 \frac{l+k}{k} \right] \left(\frac{l(l+3)}{r_0^2} + m^2 \right)^{-s} \\ &= \frac{r_0^{2s}}{3} \sum_{k \ge 0} \binom{-s}{k} \left[\zeta \left(2s + 2k - 3; 3/2 \right) - \frac{1}{4} \zeta \left(2s + 2k - 1; 3/2 \right) \right] \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{9}{4} \right)^k. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.19)$$

The two limits can be understood as expansions of a single function that can be obtained using resurgence techniques, as we show in appendix A. This function can be written in terms of the principal value of an integral involving Bessel's functions. The grand potential for example has the form

$$\frac{\Omega(m)}{2N} = -\frac{m^4 r_0^3}{24\pi} \text{P.V.} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{y\sin(y)} \left(2K_4(2mr_0y) + \left(2 + \frac{1}{m^2 r_0^2}\right) K_2(2mr_0y) \right).$$
(4.20)

4.2.2 Free energy and conformal dimensions

One interesting observation is that in the regime where the small-m expansion is convergent and can be trusted, the zeta function on the four-sphere has a more interesting behavior than the two-sphere case: there is a maximum and a minimum, i.e. a convex and a concave region separated by a flex (see figure 5). This happens for the values

$$r_0 m_{\min} \approx 0.9927...$$
 $r_0 m_{\rm fl} \approx 1.266...$ $r_0 m_{\max} = \frac{3}{2}.$ (4.21)

The value of the flex can also be found with quite good precision using an optimal truncation of the large-*m* expansion of the grand potential (see appendix A). Note however that this expansion cannot reproduce the whole structure of $\Omega(m)$ and in particular it cannot reproduce the maximum at $r_0 m_{\text{max}} = 3/2$.

By an argument that is by now familiar, the Legendre transform is non-trivial only for values of Q smaller than

$$\frac{Q_{\rm fl}}{2N} = \Omega'(m_{\rm fl}) \approx 0.05029\dots$$

$$(4.22)$$



Figure 5. The grand potential $\Omega(m)$ (left) and its first derivative $\Omega'(m)$ (right) on the four-sphere. The function $\Omega(m)$ is convex for $m \leq m_{\rm fl} \approx 1.266...$, has a minimum for $mr_0 = m_{\rm min}r_0 \approx 0.9927$ and a maximum for $mr_0 = m_{\rm max}r_0 = 3/2$. The maximization condition admits two solutions for $0 \leq Q < Q_{\rm fl} = \Omega'(m_{\rm fl}) \approx (2N) \cdot 0.5029...$ and no solutions beyond $Q = Q_{\rm fl}$ (right). The leftmost solution gives a convex function, but does not satisfy F(0) = 0 since $F(0) = -\Omega(m_{\rm min}) \approx 0.017 \cdots > 0$.

The free energy is equal to $+\infty$ for $Q > Q_{\rm fl}$ since in this case, $\Omega(m)$ is not bounded below:

$$\frac{F(Q)}{2N} = \begin{cases} Qm - \Omega(m)|_{m=m(Q)} & \text{for } 0 < Q < Q_{\text{fl}} \approx (2N) \cdot 0.05029 \dots \\ +\infty & \text{for } Q > Q_{\text{fl}}. \end{cases}$$
(4.23)

However, the function F(Q)/(2N) that we obtain in this way cannot be describing the conformal dimension of operators of fixed charge in a CFT. By the state-operator correspondence, $r_0F(0)$ is the dimension of the identity operator and has to vanish, while we have

$$\frac{r_0 F(0)}{2N} = -\frac{1}{2N} \Omega(m_{\min}) \approx 0.01699 \dots \neq 0.$$
(4.24)

The appearance of the constant term means that we are not at the critical point. Expanding in Q, we find

$$\frac{r_0 F(Q)}{2N} \approx 0.01699\dots + 0.9903\dots \frac{Q}{2N} + 1.516\dots \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^2 + \dots$$
(4.25)

We see that the leading term in Q is linear, which means that we are in a massive phase.

Alternatively, we could decide to ignore convexity and use the naive definition of Legendre transform and expand around the maximum $m_{\text{max}}^2 = 9/(4r_0^2)$, which is precisely the value of the conformal coupling and where $\Omega(m_{\text{max}}) = 0$. In this case we would find

$$r_0 F(Q) = 2N \left[\frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{Q}{2N} \right) - \frac{32}{3\pi^2} \left(\frac{Q}{2N} \right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(Q^3) \right].$$

$$(4.26)$$

This same result has been found in [12] (where $Q_{\rm fl}$ has been identified as the critical value above which $\Delta(Q)$ becomes complex), and it is consistent with the conformal dimension of the Q-th power of a field of dimension 3/2 (see also [35]). It would be interesting to understand better the meaning of this expression. On the one hand we are discussing a UV continuation obtained via a hard-to-justify complex effective potential; on the other hand we are expanding around a maximum, in a concave region of $\Omega(m)$ that one would not expect to contribute to the Legendre transform. Once more we can try and continue F(Q)to a complex function and look at $Q_{\rm fl}$ as the beginning of a branch cut. In this way we can study the behavior for large values of Q using the large-m expansion in each of the four branches. Using the expansion in eq. (4.18) we find

$$\Delta(Q) = r_0 F_{S^4}(Q) = 2N \left[f_1 \frac{4\sqrt{3}}{5} \left(\frac{Q}{2N} \right)^{\frac{5}{4}} - \frac{f_2}{\sqrt{3}} \left(\frac{Q}{2N} \right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \right], \tag{4.27}$$

where the phases f_1 and f_2 depend on the choice of the branches:

branch 1 branch 2 branch 3 branch 4

$$f_1 e^{i\pi/4} e^{-i\pi/4} e^{3\pi i/4} e^{-3\pi i/4}$$
 $f_2 e^{3i\pi/4} e^{-3i\pi/4} e^{\pi i/4} e^{-\pi i/4}$
(4.28)

which again agrees with the results in [12]. The branch choice here must correspond to the one that we have already made in eq. (3.26) since the coefficient of the $\phi^{10/3}$ term in the effective potential completely fixes the coefficient of the $Q^{5/4}$ term in the conformal dimension. To see that, observe that at criticality, for dimensional reasons, the effective potential must have the form

$$V(\phi_c) = \kappa \phi^{10/3} \,, \tag{4.29}$$

which corresponds to a fixed-charge vacuum energy on the torus

$$E_{T^4} = \frac{2^{7/4}\sqrt{3}\kappa^{3/8}}{5N^{1/4}L}Q^{5/4} .$$
(4.30)

But since the ground state is homogeneous, this implies that the leading term in the largecharge expansion of the energy on the four-sphere is

$$E_{S^4}\Big|_{Q^{5/4}} = \frac{L}{V_{S^4}^{1/4}} E_{T^4} = \frac{2\kappa^{3/8}}{3^{1/8}5^{5/8}\sqrt{\pi}r_0} = \left.\frac{\Delta(Q)}{r_0}\right|_{Q^{5/4}}.$$
(4.31)

In particular, the special choice we have made in eq. (3.26) corresponds to the first branch in eq. (4.28).

4.2.3 A phase transition on the cylinder

Further insights on the nature of the critical point can be obtained moving away from the limit $u \to \infty$. One possible interpretation for a complex effective potential (obtained via the naive Legendre transform) is in terms of unstable states (see e.g. [60]). If we follow a given state while changing a parameter in the theory, it can be that at some point the state becomes unstable and its energy develops and imaginary part that can be understood in terms of decay rates. Something similar happens here, were states that are perfectly fine at small u become unstable in the UV. Having an explicit (convergent) expansion for the zeta function on the sphere at small m we can see how this happens and the implications for the free energy on the sphere at fixed (small) charge Q.



Figure 6. The grand potential Ω on the cylinder $\mathbb{R} \times S_{r_0}^4$ for $r = 9/(4r_0^2)$ at different values of u. For $u < 256r_0$, the point $m = 3/(2r_0)$ is a local minimum. For larger values of u a new minimum appears for $m < 3/(2r_0)$.

In general, if a function $\Omega(m)$ has a critical point for $m = m_c$, its Legendre transform F(Q) can be expanded around Q = 0 in terms of local properties of Ω :

$$F(Q) = \left[-\Omega(m_c) + m_c Q + \frac{1}{2\Omega''(m_c)}Q^2 + \dots \right] \Big|_{m_c = 3/(2r_0)}.$$
 (4.32)

Keeping only the first two terms, this is the free energy of a fixed-charge state for a system describing a particle of mass m_c .

If we fine tune $r = 9/(4r_0^2)$, which is the conformal coupling on the sphere, the grand potential takes the form

$$\Omega(m) = (2N) \left(-\frac{1}{2} \zeta(-1/2|S^4, m) + V_{S^4} \frac{(m^2 - 9/(4r_0^2))^2}{4u} \right).$$
(4.33)

The zeta function and its first derivative vanish at $m^2 = 9/(4r_0^2)$ and around that point we have the perturbative expansion:

$$\Omega(m) = \frac{2N}{r_0} \left[\frac{\pi^2}{384} \left(\frac{256r_0}{u} - 1 \right) \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{9}{4} \right)^2 + \frac{(\pi^2 - 12)\pi^2}{2^8 3^2} \left(m^2 r_0^2 - \frac{9}{4} \right)^3 + \dots \right].$$
(4.34)

The nature of the critical point $m_c = 3/(2r_0)$ changes with the value of u. For $u < 256r_0$ we have a local minimum, which turns into a local maximum for larger values of the coupling where a new local minimum appears for $m < 3/(2r_0)$ (see figure 6).

The supremum definition of the Legendre transform tracks the position of the minimum: for small values of u the free energy is determined by the behavior around $m = 3/(2r_0)$,

$$r_0 F(Q) = \frac{3}{2}Q + \frac{192u}{\pi^2 (256r_0 - u)} \frac{Q^2}{2N} + \dots$$
(4.35)

as long as the coefficient of Q^2 is positive. For large u, the free energy depends on the local properties of the grand potential around the new minimum appearing at $m < 3/(2r_0)$

which, as we have seen, describes a massive phase in the $u \to \infty$ limit. However, this new minimum is metastable and, for large enough charge, the free energy becomes infinite since the grand potential is not bounded below.

Using the naive definition of Legendre transform, on the other hand, for large u we can choose between two branches, one of which is still centered around $m = 3/(2r_0)$ and corresponds to a concave (unstable) region of the grand potential. For small values of Q, the free energy is still real, but the coefficient of Q^2 is negative, which is a sign of instability. When expanding around a maximum, generically the free energy is concave as function of the charge. It seems that the absence of convexity is a general feature of an expansion around an unstable state, consistently with the conjecture of [47].

4.3 $D = 4 + \epsilon$ and $D = 6 - \epsilon$

In section 3.2 we have seen that for 4 < D < 6 the expected UV fixed point cannot be reached unless we continue the effective potential to a complex function with a branch cut. Just like we have done in the case of D = 5, we can still compute the free energy on the sphere, that we naturally identify with the conformal dimension of the lowest operator of given charge:

$$\Delta(Q) = r_0 \Omega^*(Q), \qquad \Omega(m) = -N\zeta(-1/2|S^{D-1}, m).$$
(4.36)

In the limit of large charge, the zeta function can be computed perturbatively in terms of geometrical invariants for any real value of D using Weyl's asymptotic expansion for a manifold of dimension d = D - 1) [61–64]:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{\Delta_{\mathcal{M}}t}\right] = \sum_{n=0,\frac{1}{2},1,\frac{3}{2},\dots} K_{n}^{\mathcal{M}}t^{n-\frac{d}{2}},\tag{4.37}$$

where the $K_n^{\mathcal{M}}$ are the heat kernel coefficients. These coefficients can be expressed in terms of the geometry of the manifold. For manifolds without boundaries the half-integer coefficients $K_{k/2}^{\mathcal{M}}$ vanish. The first two integer coefficients can be written in closed form as

$$K_0^{\mathcal{M}} = \frac{V_{\mathcal{M}}}{(4\pi)^{d/2}}, \qquad \qquad K_1^{\mathcal{M}} = \frac{1}{6} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{d/2}} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathrm{d}x \, R. \tag{4.38}$$

The leading term in the asymptotic expansion of the zeta function on the d-sphere then reads

$$\zeta(s \mid S^d, m) = \sum_{n \ge 0} K_n^{S^d} \frac{\Gamma(s + n - \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(s)} m^{d - 2n - 2s} = K_0^{S^d} \frac{\Gamma(s - d/2)}{\Gamma(s)} m^{d - 2s} + \dots$$
(4.39)

As we have observed in section 3, for $s = \pm 1/2$ and d odd, the Gamma function in the numerator diverges. We can however resort to analytical continuation in d and study the behavior around D = 4 and D = 6, i.e. we expand the gamma function around the spatial

dimensions for $d = 3 \pm \epsilon$ and $d = 5 \pm \epsilon$. The geometrical invariants are

$$K_0^{S^{3\pm\epsilon}} m^{3\pm\epsilon} = \frac{2^{-2\mp\epsilon}\sqrt{\pi}}{\Gamma(2\pm\frac{\epsilon}{2})} (r_0 m)^{3\pm\epsilon} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4} \left[1 \pm \left(\frac{\gamma_{\rm EM}}{2} - \log(2) - \frac{1}{2} + \log(r_0 m)\right) \epsilon \right] (r_0 m)^3,$$
(4.40)

$$K_0^{S^{5\pm\epsilon}} m^{5\pm\epsilon} = \frac{2^{-4\mp\epsilon}\sqrt{\pi}}{\Gamma(3\pm\frac{\epsilon}{2})} (r_0 m)^{5\pm\epsilon} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{32} \left[1 \mp \left(\log(2) + \frac{3}{4} - \frac{\gamma_{\rm EM}}{2} - \log(r_0 m) \right) \epsilon \right] (r_0 m)^5.$$
(4.41)

Using the fact that $\Gamma(\epsilon - n) = (-1)^n \epsilon^{-1}/n! + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$, the first order result for the zeta functions we are looking for is

$$\zeta \left(1/2 \mid S^{3\pm\epsilon}, m \right) = \pm \epsilon^{-1} \frac{r_0^3 m^2}{2} + \dots, \quad \zeta \left(-1/2 \mid S^{3\pm\epsilon}, m \right) = \pm \epsilon^{-1} \frac{r_0^3 m^4}{8} + \dots, \quad (4.42)$$

$$\zeta \left(1/2 \mid S^{5\pm\epsilon}, m \right) = \mp \epsilon^{-1} \frac{r_0^5 m^4}{32} + \dots, \qquad \zeta \left(-1/2 \mid S^{5\pm\epsilon}, m \right) = \mp \epsilon^{-1} \frac{r_0^5 m^6}{192} + \dots$$
(4.43)

Around D = 4, the minimization condition gives $Q/N = \mp (r_0 m)^3/(2\epsilon)$, and, as expected, there is a solution for positive charge only in D < 4. The corresponding conformal dimension of the lowest operator of charge Q is

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{-\epsilon}(Q) = \frac{3N}{2^{1/3}} \epsilon^{1/3} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{4/3} + \dots & \text{for } D = 4 - \epsilon, \\ \Delta_{+\epsilon}(Q) = \frac{3N}{2^{1/3}} e^{i\pi(2k+1)/3} \epsilon^{1/3} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{4/3} + \dots & \text{for } D = 4 + \epsilon, \end{cases}$$
(4.44)

where k = 0, 1, 2 depends on the choice of one of the three possible branches.

Similarly, around D = 6, the minimization gives $Q/N = \pm (r_0 m)^5/(32\epsilon)$, where now the positive-charge solution exists for D > 6. The corresponding conformal dimension of the lowest operator is

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{-\epsilon}(Q) = \frac{2^{6/5}5N}{3} e^{i\pi(2k+1)/5} \epsilon^{1/5} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{6/5} + \dots & \text{for } D = 6 - \epsilon, \\ \Delta_{+\epsilon}(Q) = \frac{2^{6/5}5N}{3} \epsilon^{1/5} \left(\frac{Q}{2N}\right)^{6/5} + \dots & \text{for } D = 6 + \epsilon, \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

where now k = 0, 1, 2, 4, 5 corresponds to the five possible branches.

These results agree with those in [12, 18]. As expected from the general argument of section 3, for 4 < D < 6, the Legendre transform requires an analytic continuation and leads to complex conformal dimensions.

5 Conclusions

In this paper we have discussed the phase diagram of the large-N φ^4 vector model in 2 < D < 6. Since we are working in the double-scaling limit $N \to \infty$, $Q \to \infty$, Q/N fixed, we are able to do this without resorting to diagrammatic techniques and obtain a closed-form result which resums all the contributions at leading order in N. Having calculated the grand potential Ω , we find the effective potential, which is independent of the charge fixing, via a Legendre transform. The convexity properties of Ω are related to the unitarity

of the theory: in a unitary theory, the effective potential is always convex and the Legendre transform preserves convexity. For 2 < D < 4, Ω is convex as a function of m^2 , while for 4 < D < 6 it has a flex and is not bounded from below. This is consistent with earlier observations that in this range of dimensions the theory is non-unitary in the UV and flows to a complex CFT. Since we have access to the phase diagram, we can also study the free energy on the cylinder. In D = 5 we find a new metastable massive phase that appears at high energy.

There is a number of ways in which our observations can be extended:

- The metastable phase and instabilities in 4 < D < 6 could be explored in terms of instantons on the cylinder, extending the treatment in [33] beyond the critical point.
- Our construction is formally valid in any dimension. In 0 < D < 2 the function Ω is convex, but it is unclear to us what is the fate of the theory in the IR.
- Similarly, for 6 < D < 8, Ω is again convex, but generically we do not expect a unitary theory since the collective Stratonovich field violates the unitarity bound. More in general, the convexity of Ω is satisfied for 4n - 2 < D < 4n.
- In this work, we have restricted ourselves to canonical kinetic terms when calculating the effective potential. It would be interesting to see if one can make statements also for general kinetic terms.
- All the physics is already encoded in the grand potential. If we could extract all the information meaningfully from Ω , it may be possible to avoid calculating the effective potential altogether.

We leave these points for future investigation.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Luis Álvarez-Gaumé, Nicola Dondi, Simeon Hellerman, Igor Pesando and Uwe-Jens Wiese for enlightening discussions and Tim Schmidt for collaboration on a related project. We would also like to thank the referee for their comments that have helped improving this paper. The work of S.R. and R.M. is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation under grant number 200021_192137/1. D.O. acknowledges partial support by the NCCR 51NF40-141869 "The Mathematics of Physics" (SwissMAP).

A Resurgence of the four-sphere

Borel resummation. Borel resummation is a tool to transform an asymptotic expansion into a resurgent function (see [65] for an introduction). Suppose we have a factorially divergent asymptotic series

$$\Phi_0(t) = \sum_n a_n t^n, \qquad a_n \sim \sum_k \frac{S_k}{2\pi i} \frac{\beta_k}{A_k^{n\beta_k + b_k}} \sum_{l \ge 0} a_{l;k} A_k^l \Gamma(n\beta_k + b_k - l).$$
(A.1)

The assumption is that the asymptotic expansion can be completed into a trans-series of the form

$$\Phi(S_k, t) = \Phi_0(t) + \sum_{k \neq 0} \sigma_k e^{-\frac{A_k}{t^{1/\beta_k}}} t^{-b_k/\beta_k} \Phi_k(t), \qquad \Phi_k(t) \sim \sum_{l \ge 0} a_{l;k} t^{l/\beta_k}, \qquad (A.2)$$

where the σ_k are ambiguities that arise from the fact that for any value of these parameters the trans-series corresponds to the same asymptotic series $\Phi_0(t)$. The closed-form Borel transform of a series is defined by

$$\mathcal{B}[\Phi_0](y) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{a_n}{\Gamma(\max_k(b_k) \cdot n + \max_k(\beta_k))} y^n, \tag{A.3}$$

and the (directional) Borel resummation of the series Φ_0 is defined as

$$\mathcal{S}_{\theta}[\Phi_0](z) = \frac{1}{\max_k(\beta_k)} \int_0^{e^{i\theta}\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{\zeta} \left(\frac{\zeta}{z}\right)^{\frac{b}{\beta}} \exp\left[-\left(\frac{\zeta}{z}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta}}\right] \mathcal{B}[\Phi_0](\zeta). \tag{A.4}$$

This reproduces the asymptotic expansion $\Phi_0(t)$ for $z = te^{i\theta}$, $t \to 0^+$, but now defines a function computable for all values of t (and θ).

Ambiguities arise if the Borel transform presents singularities along the integration path $e^{i\theta}[0,\infty]$.⁹ One then defines lateral summations S^{\pm}_{θ} by deforming the contour around the singularities, the new paths we denote by C^{\pm}_{θ} . This indicates a branch cut of the (directional) Borel resummation at $z = te^{i\theta}$ with discontinuity $\left(S^{-}_{\theta} - S^{+}_{\theta}\right) [\Phi_{0}](t)$. The discontinuity is purely non-perturbative, and it includes the exponential corrections, plus the expansions $\Phi_{k}(t)$ around them and the Stokes constants S_{k} as coefficients. Given a Borel resummable asymptotic series, the discontinuity provides the structure of the nonperturbative terms in the trans-series and hence the Borel resummed expansions $S^{\pm}_{\theta}[\Phi_{k}](t)$ around the exponential corrections. However, this will not remove the ambiguities in the choice of the parameters σ^{\pm}_{k} . To promote the asymptotic expansion into a full trans-series we need in general to impose extra conditions.

Zeta function on the four sphere. The large charge expansion in D = 4 + 1 on the four-sphere is an asymptotic series and can be computed starting from the result on the two-sphere as we have seen in section 4.2. We can therefore make use of the same resurgent techniques used in [13] to study the non-perturbative corrections to the asymptotic series.

The asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\left(\triangle_{S^2}-1/(4r_0^2)\right)}\right] \sim \frac{r_0^2}{t} \Phi^{S^2}(t)$$
 (A.5)

on the two-sphere is

$$\Phi^{S^2}(t) = \sum_{n \ge 0} a_n^{S^2} \frac{t^n}{r_0^{2n}}, \qquad a_n^{S^2} = \frac{(1 - 2^{1 - 2n})B_{2n}}{(-1)^{n + 1}n!} = \frac{\Gamma(n + \frac{1}{2})}{\sqrt{\pi}} \sum_{k \ne 0} \frac{(-1)^{k + 1}}{(\pi k)^{2n}}$$
(A.6)

⁹Additionally, the behavior at the endpoints $\{0, e^{i\theta}\infty\}$ might be of importance as well.

On the four-sphere, using eq. (4.17), we find that the asymptotic expansion heat kernel trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\left(\triangle_{S^4} - 9/(4r_0^2)\right)}\right] \sim \frac{r_0^4}{t^2} \Phi^{S^4}(t) \tag{A.7}$$

is given by

$$\Phi^{S^4}(t) = \frac{1}{6} + \sum_{\substack{n \ge 1\\k \ne 0}} \frac{(-1)^k}{(\pi k)^{2n}} \frac{1}{6\sqrt{\pi}} \left[\Gamma\left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) - \frac{3}{2}\Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \frac{(\pi k)^2}{4}\Gamma\left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right) \right] \frac{t^n}{r_0^{2n}}, \quad (A.8)$$

which we can use to extract the heat kernel coefficients (see also [66]).

Comparing this to eq. (A.1) we see that

$$A_{k} = (\pi k)^{2}, \quad b_{k} = \frac{3}{2}, \quad \beta_{k} = 1, \quad \begin{cases} \frac{S_{k}}{2\pi i} a_{0;k} = (-1)^{k} |k|^{3} \frac{\pi^{5/2}}{6} \\ \frac{S_{k}}{2\pi i} a_{1;k} = (-1)^{k+1} |k| \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{4}, \quad a_{l>2;k} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(A.9)
$$\frac{S_{k}}{2\pi i} a_{2;k} = (-1)^{k} |k| \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{24}$$

The trans-series of the four-sphere heat kernel trace therefore has to include exponentials of the form

exp. corr.
$$\sim 2ie^{-\frac{(\pi r_0 k)^2}{t}} \left(\frac{r_0^2 \pi}{t}\right)^{7/2} (-1)^k |k| \left(\frac{k^2}{6} - \frac{t}{4r_0^2 \pi^2} + \frac{t^2}{24r_0^4 \pi^2}\right).$$
 (A.10)

To compute the exponential terms we perform the Borel resummation of the heat kernel. On the two-sphere the Borel resummation of the asymptotic expansion is given by $[13]^{10}$

$$\mathcal{S}_0[\Phi_0^{S^2}](t) = \frac{2r_0}{\sqrt{\pi t}} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}y \, \frac{y e^{-\frac{y^2 r_0^2}{t}}}{\sin(y)}.$$
 (A.11)

This we can use, along with eq. (4.17), to directly infer that the Borel resummation of the asymptotic expansion on the four-sphere is

$$\mathcal{S}_0[\Phi_0^{S^4}](t) = \frac{2r_0^3}{\sqrt{\pi t^3}} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}y \, \frac{y e^{-\frac{y^2 r_0^2}{t}}}{\sin(y)} \left[\frac{t}{4r_0^2} - \frac{y^2}{6} - \frac{t^2}{24r_0^4} \right]. \tag{A.12}$$

The integral is ill-defined and has simple poles at $\zeta = k\pi$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. The discontinuity is given by the Residue theorem as

$$\left(\mathcal{S}_{0}^{-}-\mathcal{S}_{0}^{+}\right)[\Phi](t) = 2i\frac{t^{2}}{r_{0}^{4}}\left(\frac{r_{0}^{2}\pi}{t}\right)^{\frac{7}{2}}\sum_{k\neq0}(-1)^{k}|k|e^{-\frac{k^{2}r_{0}^{2}\pi^{2}}{t}}\left[\frac{|k|^{2}}{6}-\frac{t}{4\pi^{2}r_{0}^{2}}+\frac{t^{2}}{24\pi^{2}r_{0}^{4}}\right].$$
(A.13)

¹⁰In order to avoid a Borel transform with branch cuts one performs the mapping $\zeta \to \zeta^2$ in eq. (A.4).

This agrees with the form of the exponential corrections in eq. (A.10). The Borel resummed trace of the heat kernel (with ambiguities) reads

$$\frac{2r_0^7}{\sqrt{\pi t^7}} \int_{C_0^{\pm}} \mathrm{d}y \, \frac{y e^{-\frac{r_0^2 y^2}{t}}}{\sin(y)} \left[\frac{t}{4r_0^2} - \frac{y^2}{6} - \frac{t^2}{24r_0^4} \right] \\ + i \left(r_0^2 \frac{\pi}{t} \right)^{\frac{7}{2}} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\sigma_k^{\pm} (-1)^k |k|}{\pi^2} e^{-\frac{k^2 r_0^2 \pi^2}{t}} \left[\frac{k^2 \pi^2}{3} - \frac{t}{2r_0^2} + \frac{t^2}{12r_0^4} \right].$$
(A.14)

It is possible to fix the ambiguities in the heat kernel trace and therefore also in all the other quantities that we will be interested in. We can do it two ways. Either one finds a path-integral definition where the trans-series structure arises automatically (see [13]), or one imposes the reality of the heat kernel trace.¹¹ The result is

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{t\left(\triangle_{S^4} - 9/(4r_0^2)\right)}\right] = \frac{2r_0^7}{\sqrt{\pi t^7}} \operatorname{P.V} \int_{C_0^{\pm}} \mathrm{d}y \frac{y e^{-\frac{r_0^2 y^2}{t}}}{\sin(y)} \left[\frac{t}{4r_0^2} - \frac{y^2}{6} - \frac{t^2}{24r_0^4}\right].$$
 (A.15)

To compute the lateral Borel resummation of the zeta function we directly apply the Mellin transform to the Borel resummed trace of the heat kernel. But to change the order of integration for $s = \pm 1/2$ the integral needs to be analytically continued by extracting the first three terms of the asymptotic expansion. We get

$$\zeta^{\pm}\left(s|S^{4},m\right) = \frac{2r_{0}^{2s}}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \int_{C_{0}^{\pm}} dy \, \frac{e^{-m^{2}r_{0}^{2}t - \frac{y^{2}}{t}}}{t^{\frac{9}{2} - s}} \left[\frac{y}{\sin(y)}\left(-\frac{y^{2}}{6} + \frac{t}{4} - \frac{t^{2}}{24}\right) - \frac{y^{2}}{3} + \frac{y^{4}}{18} + \frac{17y^{6}}{5400}\right] + \frac{1}{6} \frac{r_{0}^{4}m^{4-2s}}{(s-1)(s-2)} - \frac{1}{24} \frac{r_{0}^{2}m^{2-2s}}{(s-1)} - \frac{17}{2880}m^{-2s}.$$
(A.16)

We exchange the order of integration for s = -1/2. The result can be identified with the (non-standard) Borel resummation of the asymptotic series $\Omega_0(m)/(2N)$ of the grand potential $\Omega(m)/(2N)$. We have

$$\mathcal{S}_{0}^{\pm} \Big[\frac{\Omega_{0}}{2N} \Big](m) = -\frac{r_{0}^{3}m^{4}}{24\pi} \int_{C_{0}^{\pm}} \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{y^{2}} \Big[\frac{y}{\sin(y)} \Big(2 \Big[K_{4}(2r_{0}my) + K_{2}(2r_{0}my) \Big] + \frac{K_{2}(2r_{0}my)}{(r_{0}m)^{2}} \Big) \\ + \Big(8 - \frac{4y^{2}}{3} - \frac{17y^{4}}{225} \Big) K_{4}(2r_{0}my) \Big] + \frac{2}{45} r_{0}^{4}m^{5} + \frac{1}{36} r_{0}^{2}m^{3} - \frac{17}{2880}m, \quad (A.17)$$

¹¹In general the reality condition is not guaranteed to fix the non-perturbative corrections completely because there is always the possibility of $2i\sigma_k^{\pm}$ having a real part as well. But in our case it turns out to be sufficient.

where $K_n(x)$ is the modified Bessel function of the second kind of order n. The discontinuity is given by

$$\left(\mathcal{S}_{0}^{-} - \mathcal{S}_{0}^{+}\right) \left[\frac{\Omega_{0}}{2N}\right](m) = i \frac{r_{0}^{3}m^{4}}{12} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{|k|} \left(2\left[K_{4}(2\pi r_{0}mk) + K_{2}(2\pi r_{0}mk)\right] + \frac{1}{(r_{0}m)^{2}}K_{2}(2\pi r_{0}mk)\right).$$
(A.18)

For our purposes it is sufficient to only consider the leading non-perturbative terms appearing in the free energy. To do so we will use Hankel's asymptotic expansion for the modified Bessel functions of the second kind

$$K_{\alpha}(z) \sim \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2z}} e^{-z} \left(1 + \frac{(4\alpha^2 - 1)}{8z} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{(4\alpha^2 - 3^2)}{8z} \left(1 + \frac{1}{3} \frac{(4\alpha^2 - 5^2)}{8z} \left(1 + \dots \right) \right) \right) \right),$$
(A.19)

for $-3\pi/2 < \arg(z) < 3\pi/2$. The first non-perturbative exponential terms are

$$\omega(m) \supset i \frac{r_0^3 m^4}{12} \frac{(-1)^k}{|k|} \left(4 + \frac{1}{(r_0 m)^2} \right) \frac{1}{\sqrt{4r_0 m |k|}} e^{-2\pi r_0 m |k|} \sim i \frac{(r_0 m)^{\frac{7}{2}}}{6r_0} \frac{(-1)^k}{|k|^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-2\pi r_0 m |k|}.$$
(A.20)

If we use the first term of the order-by-order Legendre transform of the perturbative part, i.e. $q = -(r_0m)^4/9$, $r_0f(q) = r_0mq + (r_0m)^5/45$, with q = Q/2N, then the leading correction to the free energy per degree of freedom (DOF) is

$$r_0 f(q) \supset i \frac{\tilde{q}^{7/8}}{6\sqrt{f_1}} \frac{(-1)^k}{|k|^{\frac{3}{2}}} e^{-2\pi f_1 \tilde{q}^{1/4}|k|},\tag{A.21}$$

where $\tilde{q} = 9q$ and f_1 is the complex phase coming from the negative sign in the first equation and the fact that one has to pick a branch for the root. Finally, following the reality prescription for the heat kernel trace, we can put the grand potential into the form

$$\omega(m) = -\frac{r_0^3 m^4}{24\pi} \text{P.V.} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{y\sin(y)} \left(2 \left[K_4(2my) + K_2(2my) \right] + \frac{1}{(r_0 m)^2} K_2(2my) \right).$$
(A.22)

Optimal truncation. An alternative approach to get a meaningful result from an asymptotic series is to truncate it. A commonly applied rule of thumb to find a finite sum that is as close as possible to the "actual" value is to truncate at the term that gives the smallest contribution. For an asymptotic series $\sum a_n x^n$, if we suppose that the coefficients a_n diverge as $(\beta n)!A^{-n}$, then the optimal truncation is at

$$N(x) \approx \frac{1}{\beta} |Ax|^{1/\beta}, \tag{A.23}$$

with error $\epsilon(x) \sim \exp(-(Ax)^{1/\beta})$. For the special case $x \sim 1$ we can simply look at the ratio of consecutive coefficients of the terms in the asymptotic expansion. Once this ratio exceeds one we truncate the series. For the zeta function $\zeta(s \mid S^4, m)$ in terms of the

variable $\tilde{m}^2 = r_0^2 m^2 - 9/4 \sim 1$ the optimal truncation is after the third term for s = 3/2, after the fourth for s = 1/2 and after the fifth for s = -1/2.

To go beyond that we need to rely on our resurgent analysis. For the trace of the heat kernel, using the large order behavior of the Bernoulli numbers, given by $\frac{(1-2^{1-2n})B_{2n}}{(-1)^{n+1}n!} \sim \frac{2}{\sqrt{n\pi}\pi^{2n}}$, one finds that $\beta = 1$ and $A = \pi^2$, and hence

$$N(t) \approx \pi^2 r_0^{-2} t,$$
 $\epsilon(t) \sim \exp\left(-\pi^2 r_0^{-2} t\right).$ (A.24)

The asymptotic expansion of the grand potential is found by Mellin transforming the asymptotic expansion of the heat kernel trace

$$\zeta\left(s|S^{4},m\right) \sim r_{0}^{2s}(\tilde{m}^{2})^{2-s} \sum_{n\geq 0} a_{n}^{S^{4}} \frac{\Gamma(n+s-2)}{\Gamma(s)} (\tilde{m}^{2})^{-n},\tag{A.25}$$

$$\frac{\Omega(m)}{2N} \sim r_0^{-1} (\tilde{m}^2)^{\frac{5}{2}} \sum_{n \ge 0} a_n^{S^4} \frac{\Gamma(n - \frac{5}{2})}{4\sqrt{\pi}} (\tilde{m}^2)^{-n} = -\frac{(\tilde{m}^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{45r_0} + \frac{(\tilde{m}^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{r_0} \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\Omega_n}{2N} (\tilde{m}^2)^{-n},$$
(A.26)

where $\tilde{m}^2 = r_0^2 m^2 - 9/4$. The coefficients $\Omega_n/(2N)$ in closed form are written as $(n \ge 1)$

$$\frac{\Omega_n}{2N} = \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{(-1)^k}{(\pi k)^{2n+3}} \frac{(\pi |k|)^3}{24\pi} \Gamma\left(n - \frac{5}{2}\right) \left[\Gamma\left(n + \frac{3}{2}\right) - \frac{3}{2}\Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) + \frac{(\pi k)^2}{4}\Gamma\left(n - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right].$$
(A.27)

The double factorial first needs to be resolved in order to match with the general higherorder trans-series coefficients, but already makes it clear that the coefficients grow like (2n)!. Once the double factorial structure is resolved, then the leading term is

$$\frac{\Omega_n}{2N} = \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{(-1)^k}{(2\pi|k|)^{2n-\frac{1}{2}}} \frac{1}{12\pi\sqrt{|k|}} (\Gamma(2n-1/2) + \ldots).$$
(A.28)

What we can read off already is that

$$A_k = (2\pi k),$$
 $b_k = -\frac{1}{2},$ $\beta_k = 2,$ $\frac{S_k}{2\pi i} a_{0;k} = \frac{(-1)^k}{24\pi \sqrt{|k|}}.$ (A.29)

This tells us that the optimal truncation is

$$N(\mu) \approx \frac{1}{2} \left| 2\pi \tilde{m}^2 \right|^{1/2}, \qquad \epsilon(\tilde{m}) \sim \exp\left(-\sqrt{2\pi \tilde{m}^2}\right). \qquad (A.30)$$

For $r_0^2 m^2 \gtrsim 3/2$, i.e. $\tilde{m}^2 \gtrsim 3/2$, the optimal truncation is at the first term, so that $\Omega(m)/(2N) \sim -\frac{(\tilde{m}^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}{45r_0}$. This way we recover the maximum of the grand potential $\Omega(3/2)/(2N) = 0$ at m = 3/2 from its asymptotic expansion using the optimal truncation.¹²

¹²To be precise we cannot see that it is a maximum since $\Omega(3/2)'/(2N) \sim -(r_0 m) \frac{(\tilde{m}^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{9}\Big|_{m=3/2} = 0.$



Figure 7. The truncated asymptotic expansion of the grand potential $\Omega(m)$ (red) and its second derivative $\Omega''(m)$ (orange) on the four-sphere. There is a flex for $m \approx 1.290$.

Flex from large charge. The second derivative of the grand potential reads (we use the identity $\zeta'(s \mid \mathcal{M}, m) = -2ms\zeta(s+1 \mid \mathcal{M}, m)$ here)

$$\frac{\Omega''(m)}{2N} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big(\zeta(1/2 \mid S^4, m) - m^2 \zeta(3/2 \mid S^4, m) \Big).$$
(A.31)

It is clear that the asymptotic expansion in terms of $\tilde{m}^2 = r_0^2 m^2 - 9/4$ cannot reproduce the flex at $m \approx 1.266 < 3/2$. So we further expand in an asymptotic expansion in terms of m. Around $m \sim 1$ the optimal truncation can be found by looking again at the ration of consecutive coefficients. This ratio starts exceeding the value one after the sixth term. Up to this term the grand potential is

$$\frac{\Omega(m)}{2N} = -\frac{r_0^4 m^5}{45} + \frac{r_0^2 m^3}{9} - \frac{29m}{45} + \frac{37m^{-1}}{756r_0^2} + \frac{149m^{-3}}{15120r_0^4} + \frac{179m^{-5}}{55440r_0^6}.$$
 (A.32)

Expanded up to the sixth term the second derivative of the grand potential reads

$$\frac{\Omega''(m)}{2N} = -\frac{4r_0^4m^3}{9} + \frac{2r_0^2m}{3} + \frac{37m^{-3}}{378r_0^2} + \frac{149m^{-5}}{1260r_0^4} + \frac{179m^{-7}}{1848r_0^6}.$$
 (A.33)

The m^{-1} term is of course missing and it also cancels exactly between the two zeta functions.

The asymptotic expansions of $\Omega(m)$ and $\Omega''(m)$ are shown in figure 7. Numerically one finds that the asymptotic expansion of $\Omega''(m)$ has a zero at $r_0m \approx 1.290$, i.e. the asymptotic expansion of $\omega(m)$ has a flex at $r_0m \approx 1.290$. This is very close to the actual value of $r_0m_{\rm fl} \approx 1.266$. Looking at the graph it is clear though that the asymptotic expansion does not reproduce the maximum of the grand potential at $r_0m = 3/2$. The error of the optimal truncation at $\tilde{m}^2 \approx 1$ is given by $\epsilon(\tilde{m}^2 \sim 1) \sim = e^{-\sqrt{2\pi}} = 0.08$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- R. Stratonovich, On a method of calculating quantum distribution functions, Sov. Phys. Dokl. 2 (1957) 416.
- [2] J. Hubbard, Calculation of partition functions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 3 (1959) 77 [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Moshe and J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum field theory in the large N limit: A Review, Phys. Rept. 385 (2003) 69 [hep-th/0306133] [INSPIRE].
- [4] A.N. Vasiliev, Y.M. Pismak and Y.R. Khonkonen, Simple Method of Calculating the Critical Indices in the 1/N Expansion, Theor. Math. Phys. 46 (1981) 104 [INSPIRE].
- [5] K. Lang and W. Rühl, Field algebra for critical O(N) vector nonlinear sigma models at 2 < d < 4, Z. Phys. C **50** (1991) 285 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Petkou, Conserved currents, consistency relations and operator product expansions in the conformally invariant O(N) vector model, Annals Phys. 249 (1996) 180 [hep-th/9410093]
 [INSPIRE].
- [7] A.C. Petkou, C(T) and C(J) up to next-to-leading order in 1/N in the conformally invariant 0(N) vector model for 2 < d < 4, Phys. Lett. B **359** (1995) 101 [hep-th/9506116] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Hellerman, D. Orlando, S. Reffert and M. Watanabe, On the CFT Operator Spectrum at Large Global Charge, JHEP 12 (2015) 071 [arXiv:1505.01537] [INSPIRE].
- [9] L.A. Gaumé, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Selected topics in the large quantum number expansion, Phys. Rept. 933 (2021) 2180 [arXiv:2008.03308] [INSPIRE].
- [10] L. Álvarez-Gaumé, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Large charge at large N, JHEP 12 (2019) 142 [arXiv:1909.02571] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Orlando, S. Reffert and F. Sannino, A safe CFT at large charge, JHEP 08 (2019) 164
 [arXiv:1905.00026] [INSPIRE].
- S. Giombi and J. Hyman, On the large charge sector in the critical O(N) model at large N, JHEP 09 (2021) 184 [arXiv:2011.11622] [INSPIRE].
- [13] N. Dondi, I. Kalogerakis, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Resurgence of the large-charge expansion, JHEP 05 (2021) 035 [arXiv:2102.12488] [INSPIRE].
- [14] M. Watanabe, Accessing large global charge via the ϵ -expansion, JHEP 04 (2021) 264 [arXiv:1909.01337] [INSPIRE].
- [15] G. Badel, G. Cuomo, A. Monin and R. Rattazzi, The ε-expansion Meets Semiclassics, JHEP 11 (2019) 110 [arXiv:1909.01269] [INSPIRE].
- [16] G. Badel, G. Cuomo, A. Monin and R. Rattazzi, Feynman diagrams and the large charge expansion in 3ϵ dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 802 (2020) 135202 [arXiv:1911.08505].
- [17] G. Arias-Tamargo, D. Rodriguez-Gomez and J.G. Russo, The large charge limit of scalar field theories and the Wilson-Fisher fixed point at $\epsilon = 0$, JHEP **10** (2019) 201 [arXiv:1908.11347] [INSPIRE].
- [18] O. Antipin, J. Bersini, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, *Charging the O(N) model*, *Phys. Rev. D* **102** (2020) 045011 [arXiv:2003.13121] [INSPIRE].
- [19] O. Antipin, J. Bersini, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, *Charging non-Abelian Higgs theories*, *Phys. Rev. D* 102 (2020) 125033 [arXiv:2006.10078] [INSPIRE].

- [20] O. Antipin, J. Bersini, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, Untangling scaling dimensions of fixed charge operators in Higgs theories, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 125024 [arXiv:2102.04390] [INSPIRE].
- [21] I. Jack and D.R.T. Jones, Anomalous dimensions at large charge for U(N)×U(N) theory in three and four dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 105017 [arXiv:2108.11161] [INSPIRE].
- [22] I. Jack and D.R.T. Jones, Anomalous dimensions at large charge in d = 4 O(N) theory, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 085013 [arXiv:2101.09820] [INSPIRE].
- [23] I. Jack and D.R.T. Jones, Anomalous Dimensions at Large Charge in d = 4 O(N) Theory, Acta Phys. Polon. B 52 (2021) 823 [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Orlando, S. Reffert and T. Schmidt, Following the flow for large N and large charge, Phys. Lett. B 825 (2022) 136881 [arXiv:2110.07616] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S.R. Coleman, R. Jackiw and H.D. Politzer, Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking in the O(N) Model for Large N^{*}, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 2491 [INSPIRE].
- [26] T. Appelquist and U.W. Heinz, Three-dimensional O(N) theories at large distances, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 2169 [INSPIRE].
- [27] T. Appelquist and U.W. Heinz, Vacuum Stability in Three-dimensional O(N) Theories, Phys. Rev. D 25 (1982) 2620 [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Orlando, S. Reffert and F. Sannino, Near-Conformal Dynamics at Large Charge, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 065018 [arXiv:1909.08642] [INSPIRE].
- [29] D. Orlando, S. Reffert and F. Sannino, Charging the Conformal Window, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 105026 [arXiv:2003.08396] [INSPIRE].
- [30] D. Orlando, V. Pellizzani and S. Reffert, Near-Schrödinger dynamics at large charge, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 105018 [arXiv:2010.07942] [INSPIRE].
- [31] G. Parisi, The Theory of Nonrenormalizable Interactions. 1. The Large N Expansion, Nucl. Phys. B 100 (1975) 368 [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Fei, S. Giombi and I.R. Klebanov, Critical O(N) models in 6ϵ dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 025018 [arXiv:1404.1094] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Giombi, R. Huang, I.R. Klebanov, S.S. Pufu and G. Tarnopolsky, The O(N) Model in 4 < d < 6: Instantons and complex CFTs, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 045013 [arXiv:1910.02462] [INSPIRE].
- [34] O. Antipin, J. Bersini, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, More on the cubic versus quartic interaction equivalence in the O(N) model, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 085002 [arXiv:2107.02528] [INSPIRE].
- [35] G. Arias-Tamargo, D. Rodriguez-Gomez and J.G. Russo, On the UV completion of the O(N) model in 6 – ϵ dimensions: a stable large-charge sector, JHEP 09 (2020) 064 [arXiv:2003.13772] [INSPIRE].
- [36] F. Sannino, Conformal Dynamics for TeV Physics and Cosmology, Acta Phys. Polon. B 40 (2009) 3533 [arXiv:0911.0931] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Sannino, Jumping Dynamics, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 28 (2013) 1350127 [arXiv:1205.4246]
 [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Dymarsky, I.R. Klebanov and R. Roiban, Perturbative search for fixed lines in large N gauge theories, JHEP 08 (2005) 011 [hep-th/0505099] [INSPIRE].

- [39] E. Pomoni and L. Rastelli, Large N Field Theory and AdS Tachyons, JHEP 04 (2009) 020 [arXiv:0805.2261] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D.B. Kaplan, J.-W. Lee, D.T. Son and M.A. Stephanov, *Conformality Lost*, *Phys. Rev. D* 80 (2009) 125005 [arXiv:0905.4752] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S. Giombi, I.R. Klebanov and G. Tarnopolsky, Conformal QED_d , F-Theorem and the ϵ Expansion, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 135403 [arXiv:1508.06354] [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Grabner, N. Gromov, V. Kazakov and G. Korchemsky, Strongly γ-Deformed N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory as an Integrable Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 111601 [arXiv:1711.04786] [INSPIRE].
- [43] V. Gorbenko, S. Rychkov and B. Zan, Walking, Weak first-order transitions, and Complex CFTs, JHEP 10 (2018) 108 [arXiv:1807.11512] [INSPIRE].
- [44] F. Benini, C. Iossa and M. Serone, Conformality Loss, Walking, and 4D Complex Conformal Field Theories at Weak Coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 051602 [arXiv:1908.04325]
 [INSPIRE].
- [45] X. Bekaert, E. Meunier and S. Moroz, Towards a gravity dual of the unitary Fermi gas, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 106001 [arXiv:1111.1082] [INSPIRE].
- [46] X. Bekaert, E. Joung and J. Mourad, Comments on higher-spin holography, Fortsch. Phys. 60 (2012) 882 [arXiv:1202.0543] [INSPIRE].
- [47] O. Aharony and E. Palti, Convexity of charged operators in CFTs and the weak gravity conjecture, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 126005 [arXiv:2108.04594] [INSPIRE].
- [48] O. Antipin, J. Bersini, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, More on the weak gravity conjecture via convexity of charged operators, JHEP 12 (2021) 204 [arXiv:2109.04946] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J. Iliopoulos, C. Itzykson and A. Martin, Functional Methods and Perturbation Theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 47 (1975) 165 [INSPIRE].
- [50] R.B. Israel, Convexity in the Theory of Lattice Gases, Princeton University Press, Princeton U.S.A. (2015) [ISBN:978-1-4008-6842-1].
- [51] A. Duncan, The Conceptual Framework of Quantum Field Theory, EBSCO ebook academic collection, Oxford University Press, Oxford U.K. (2012), https://books.google.ch/books?id=MuH0TQvpY5sC [ISBN:9780199573264].
- [52] L. O'Raifeartaigh, A. Wipf and H. Yoneyama, The Constraint Effective Potential, Nucl. Phys. B 271 (1986) 653 [INSPIRE].
- [53] P.K. Townsend, Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking in O(N) Symmetric ϕ^6 Theory in the 1/NExpansion, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 226 [Erratum ibid. 16 (1977) 533].
- [54] P.K. Townsend, Consistency of the 1/n Expansion for Three-Dimensional phi^{**}6 Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 118 (1977) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Cherman, D. Dorigoni and M. Ünsal, Decoding perturbation theory using resurgence: Stokes phenomena, new saddle points and Lefschetz thimbles, JHEP 10 (2015) 056 [arXiv:1403.1277] [INSPIRE].
- [56] L. Álvarez-Gaumé, O. Loukas, D. Orlando and S. Reffert, Compensating strong coupling with large charge, JHEP 04 (2017) 059 [arXiv:1610.04495] [INSPIRE].

- [57] M. Hogervorst, S. Rychkov and B.C. van Rees, Unitarity violation at the Wilson-Fisher fixed point in 4ϵ dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 125025 [arXiv:1512.00013] [INSPIRE].
- [58] S. Abel and F. Sannino, Radiative symmetry breaking from interacting UV fixed points, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 056028 [arXiv:1704.00700] [INSPIRE].
- [59] R. Cahn and J. Wolf, Zeta functions and their asymptotic expansions for compact locally Symmetric spaces of negative curvature, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 81 (1975) 1.
- [60] S. Coleman, Aspects Of Symmetry, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (1988) [ISBN:978-0521318273].
- [61] H. Weyl. Über die asymptotische Verteilung der Eigenwerte, Nachrichten von der Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Mathematisch-Physikalische Klasse, Göttingen Germany (1911), pg. 110.
- [62] E. Elizalde, Ten physical applications of spectral zeta functions, vol. 35 (1995), 10.1007/978-3-540-44757-3 [INSPIRE].
- [63] K. Kirsten, Spectral functions in mathematics and physics, Chapman and Hall/CRC, Boca Raton U.S.A. (2001).
- [64] D.V. Vassilevich, Heat kernel expansion: User's manual, Phys. Rept. 388 (2003) 279
 [hep-th/0306138] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D. Dorigoni, An Introduction to Resurgence, Trans-Series and Alien Calculus, Annals Phys. 409 (2019) 167914 [arXiv:1411.3585].
- [66] Y. Kluth and D.F. Litim, Heat kernel coefficients on the sphere in any dimension, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 269 [arXiv:1910.00543] [INSPIRE].